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nter for Hematology and Oncology PLC et al Doc.

WO
IN THE UNITED STAT ES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA
J. Scott, No. CV-16-03703-PHX-DGC
Plaintiff, ORDER
V.

Arizona Center for Hematology and
Oncology PLC, et al.,

Defendants.

Relator J. Scott has filedcqui tamaction against Defendants Arizona Center for

Hematology and Oncoffy PLC (d/b/a Arizona Centdéor Cancer Care, “AZCCC”) and
Drs. Devinder Singh, Terry Lee, Daniel Readd Christopher Biggs, alleging violation
of the False Claims Act (“FCA”), 31 U.S.C. 82 et seq. Doc. 47. Defendants ha

filed motions to dismiss the Second Anded Complaint under Rule 12(b)(6).

Docs. 54, 55, 56, 58. The tmns are fully briefed and al argument will not aid the
Court’s decision. Fed. R. €iP. 78(b); LRCiv 7.2(f). Hothe reasons that follow, the
Court will dismiss Counts One, Two, afitiree in part, andismiss Count Four.
l. Background.

For purposes of this mom, Relator's factual allegations are accepted as t
Ashcroft v. Igbgl 556 U.S. 662, 678 (2009). AZQXCis a hematology and oncolog

practice that was formed in @8 when Drs. Singh, Le®&eed, and Biggs merged the
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practices. Doc. 47 1 12. Bingh is a practicinghysician who also serves as the owner

and president of AZCCCId. { 14. He has “final decision making authority at AZCQ
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and is ultimately responsible for the fraleht billing within the AZCCC Radiation
Oncology Department.”ld. Drs. Lee, Reed, and Biggse practicing physicians in and
owners of AZCCC'’s radison oncology departmentd. § 16, 18-19.

Relator is AZCCC's radiain oncology billing managerld. § 11. Through his
work in this position, Relator discoverdide schemes in whit Defendants submitted
fraudulent claims for payment to Mieare, Medicaid, and Tricaréd. 1 2, 11, 20.

First, all Defendants falsely billedor intense physician involvement ir
stereotactic body radiation therapy (“SBRT”) (“Scheme Ondd). 11 73-83. Maedical
practices and professionals use Currembc®dural Terminology (“CPT”) codes to
document their services fdulling purposes. CPT codg7014 reflects a single SBRT
treatment, which includes a physician’s brggiidance to an iaging technician. Id.
19 76-83. When a physician personally paréitas in the preparation and administration
of the entire SBRT treatment, a provideay simultaneously bilCPT code 77290.d.
19 73-77. This typically happens on thiest day of SBRT treatments that arp
administered over multiple days.ld. Y 82-83. Relator alleges that Defendants
consistently failed to dthe work necessary toill CPT code 77290.1d. § 92. Relator
offers billing records showpg approximately 4,000 clais for payment in which
Defendants coded CPT codes 77014 &ar2b0 for every SRT treatment.ld. 1 99-109.
Relator claims that AZCCC fraudulenthgceived about $2 million from this scheme
between January 2011 and June 20&6y 115.

Second, all Defendants improperly hilldor special proatures they did not
perform (“Scheme Two”). Id. 11 118-35. CPT code 77470 reflects the additiopal
physician work required for speciadid and time-consuming procedurefd. {1 119.
Billing this code requires extra documentatidd. § 122. Relator asde that Defendants
used this code for unapproved, routine powres and did so without the necessary
documentation. Id. {{ 121-22. To substantiateetdack of special circumstancepg
justifying CPT code 7470, Relator offers coparative billing data. I1d. {1 129-34.

Centers for Medicare and Medicaid ServiggGMS”) data reflect that the averagg
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radiation oncologist in Arizonailked this code 47 times in 2014Id. 129. But
AZCCC'’s billing data show thahree Defendants billed thede with disproportionate

frequency in 2014: 133 times for Dr. Lee, 1Bfies for Dr. Biggs, and 105 times for Du.

Reed. Id. 1 130. Relator claims that Defentiahave received at $2.43 million from
this schemeld. § 128.

Third, all Defendants filed claims rfomedically unnecessary computerize
tomography (“CT”) scans (“Scheme Threelll. 1 136-61. Physicians use CT scans
identify the precise location ad tumor before the first pka of radiation treatment
targeting it. 1d. 1 136. Because a patient’s mmal anatomy might change durin
treatment for some cancers, a second CT s@nbe required before the second phass
radiation. Id. 11 137, 140. But another CT scamaeely required for the second phase
radiation treatment for breagnd prostate cancertd. 11 138, 149. Anatomical change
in breast and prostate cancer patients are ldreRelator asserts that an AZCCC offic
where Defendants practice has nonethelessdlitie second CT scanfor 90% of their
prostate cancer patients and 75%hair breast cancer patientid. I 148. Relator also
alleges that AZCCC'’s treatmefdrm automatically reques& second CT scan for al
cancer patientsld.  150. Relator identifies multipexamples of allegedly unnecessa
secondary CT scans orderedns. Lee, Reed, and Bigg#d. 1 151-57. Relator claimsg
that Defendants have received ab®u#8 million from this schemdd. T 159.

Fourth, all Defendants billed for inapprage brachytherapy treatments (“Schen
Four”). Id. §Y162-72. Multiple CPT codes reflect physician management
brachytherapy treatmentld. § 163. When the brachythesais multi-step or includes
external beam radiatiothe provider can simultaneoysbill CPT code 774271d. { 164.

External beam radiation may occur at maiste in every five brachytherapy treatment

Id. 1 162. Relator offerspproximately 1,000 billing recosdreflecting the simultaneous

billing of CPT code 7742 for brachytherapyld. 11 165-67. Relator alleges that “all ¢
virtually all” of those claims are frauduie which resulted in approximately $135,000
false paymentsld. 1 167, 172.
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Finally, AZCCC improperly sent the & bills to both private and federg

insurance programs, creating qvayments that it has not refded to the United States

(“Scheme Five”).ld. 11 173-89. Relator also allegést overpayments accrued becau

insurers mistakenlyaid AZCCC twice. Id. §175. Relator alleges that AZCCC has

failed to meet AffordableCare Act deadlines to reid these overpayments.ld.
19 177-78. Relator offers four examplessubstantiate this allegatiorid. 7 183-88.
Relator claims that AZCCC has wrongfulkept about $1.94million through this
scheme.ld. 1 189.

Relator filed aqui tamaction against Defendants ont@mer 26, 2016. Doc. 1.

The United States declined iatervene (Doc. 8), and tHéourt unsealed the complain

on February 8, 2017 (Doc. 9). Relatomens employed by AZCCC, but the Second

Amended Complaint alleges he has suffemetaliatory treatment because of h
complaint. Doc. 47 11 241-60.
Il. Legal Standard.

A successful motion to dismiss under Rd2(b)(6) must showeither that the
complaint lacks a cognizable legal theory or fails togalleacts sufficient to support its
theory. Balistreri v. Pacifica Police Dept901 F.2d 696, 6999th Cir. 1990). A
complaint that sets forth a goizable legal they will survive a motion to dismiss ag
long as it contains “sufficient factual matteccepted as true, to ‘state a claim to rel
that is plausible on its face.” Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (citingBell Atl. Corp. v.
Twombly 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)). A claim hasi&h plausibility when “the plaintiff
pleads factual content that allows the caortdraw the reasonable inference that t
defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.fgbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (citing
Twombly 550 U.S. at 556). “The plausibilitgtandard is not akin to a ‘probability
requirement,’” but it asks for more than aesh possibility that a defendant has act
unlawfully.” Id.

A pleading must contain alfert and plain statement tife claim showing that the

pleader is entitled to relief.” Fed. R. CW. 8(a)(2). Rule 8loes not demand detailet
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factual allegations, but “it demands morariran unadorned, éndefendant-unlawfully-
harmed-me accusationfgbal, 556 U.S. at 678. “Threadbarecitals of the elements of
a cause of action, supported by mevaatusory statements, do not sufficed.

Because FCA claims involve allegationsfiaud, they must ab comply with the

heightened pleading requirements of Rule 9(Bafasso ex rel. United States v. Genh.

Dynamics C4 Sys., Inc637 F.3d 1047, 1054-55 (9th C#011). That rule requires &
party alleging fraud to “statevith particularity the ciramstances constituting fraud[.]
Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b). A fpading must identify the who, what, when, where, and how
the misconduct charged, as well as whatalse or misleading about the purported
fraudulent statementnd why it is false.” Cafassg 637 F.3d at 1055 (internal quotatio
marks omitted). Rule 9(b) does not requmore than general allegations regardi
malice, intent, knowledge, and other conditioha person’s mind. e R. Civ. P. 9(b).
Rule 9(b) serves dual purposes: (1) teeglefendants fair notice of the allegatiof
of fraud, so that they have an opporturitiyrebut specific accusations; and (2) to de
the harm caused by unstdnstiated fraud complaintdJnited States v. United Healthcars
Ins. Co, 848 F.3d 1161, BD (9th Cir. 2016). As a result:

[M]ere conclusory allegations of frawate insufficient. Broad allegations
that include no particularized oorting detail do not suffice, but
statements of the time, place and rnatof the alleged fraudulent activities
are sufficient. Becauseishstandard does not reqeiiabsolute particularity
or a recital of the evidence, a comiptaneed not allege a precise time
frame, describe in detail a single spexctfiansaction or identify the precise
method used to carry out the frau@ihe complaint alsmeed not identify
representative examples of false claitossupport every allegation. It is
sufficient to allege particular detailsf a scheme to submit false claims
paired with reliable indicia that lead &strong inference that claims were
actually submitted.

Id. (internal quotation maskand citations omitted).
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lll.  AZCCC and Dr. Singh’s Motion to Dismiss.
A Count One.

Count One alleges that dllefendants billed for servicdbey nevemrovided in

violation of 31 U.S.C. § 3729(a)(1)(A). bDo47 11 261-83. To state a claim under

§ 3729(a)(1)(A), Relator must allege: “@)false or fraudulent claim (2) that wa
material to the decision-making process (3)ohdefendant presented, or caused to
presented, to the United States for paymermipmroval (4) with knovedge that the claim
was false or fraudulent.Hooper v. Lockhed Martin Corp, 688 F.3d 1037, 1047-48 (9t

Cir. 2012). Relator asserts that Schemes,Ohwo, and Four each establish thiLs

violation. SeeDoc. 47 11 269-73. AZCCC and [Bingh contend that Count One fall
to comply with Rle 9(b)’s heightened pleading standard. Doc. 54.
1. SchemeOne.

AZCCC and Dr. Singh offer several reastmslismiss Count Gawith respect to
Scheme One. Defendants first argue that dbmplaint is irreconlably inconsistent.
Doc. 54 at5. Counts One and Two each esklthe services at issue in Scheme O
Doc. 47 1 269, 288. Yet Count One alletied these services were not provided, a
Count Two asserts that they werefpamed but medically unnecessarlgl. Defendants

argue that this internal incastency renders the complaint plausible. Doc. 54 at 5.

But Rule 8 allows pleading ithe alternative even the claims are inconsistent. Fed. R.

Civ. P. 8(d)(3). The cases Defendants citendbrequire otherwiseRather, they reveal
that courts must evaluateettplausibility of a complaint idight of all the facts and
circumstances alleged. Hernandez v. Select Portfolio, IncNo. CV 15-01896
MMM, 2015 WL 3914741, at *30 (C.D. Cal. June 25, 2015) (where plaintiff allegs
lender's violation of an oblgion that only applied ifshe had completed a loa
application, contradictoryatts about whether she completed the application rendere(
complaint implausible)Apple, Inc. v. Psystar Corp586 F. Supp. 24190, 1199-1200
(N.D. Cal. 2008) (considering contradictory nket definition with other factors to find g

counterclaim implausible). Reor's complaint clearly allegethat the services were nd
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provided. If Defendants can establish thaneoor all of the services were provides
Relator alleges that theyere not necessarySeeDoc. 60 at 9-10. This is a plausibl
alternative clan for relief.

AZCCC and Dr. Singh argue that thengdaint fails to identify the specific

fraudulent claims for whicthey are liable. Doc. 54t 5-6. Relator couers that he need

not identify representative examples for edaffendant. Doc. 60 at 10. The Cout

agrees with Relator. Rul®(b) “does not require ablute particularity.” United
Healthcare Ins. C.848 F.3d at 1180. The complaimeed not “describe in detail @
single specific transaction” or “identifypeesentative examples of false claimid’

Dr. Singh contends that the complaint fails to iden@fyy false claim he
submitted. Doc. 54t 5-6. But the complaint allegésat Dr. Singh has “final decision
making authority at AZCCC and is ultiney responsible for the fraudulent billing
within the AZCCC Radiation Onéagy Department.” Doc. 4% 14. This allegation is
sufficient to state a alm against Dr. Singh.

AZCCC and Dr. Singh argue that Relatacks the personal knowledge to mal
these claims. Doc. 54 at 6. Personal kiedge may be requirefbr testimony under
Federal Rule of Evidence 602, but the Casraware of no requireemt that a plaintiff
have personal knowledge of &cts alleged in a complaintPlaintiffs can prove their
claims through the testimony of others @nbugh evidence procured through discove
Defendants cite no controllingrecedent that requires a plaintiff to have perso
knowledge of facts alleged in his complainDoc. 54 at 6. What is more, Relator’
position as billing manager for the radiatiorcology department relers his allegations
more than unwarranted speculation.

AZCCC and Dr. Singh argue that the cdanut is inadequate because it fails
cite any “controlling rule, regulation, or sard” that would make it improper to bil
CPT code 77290. Doc. 54at But Relator does not allegeme regulatory infraction in
the billings — he alleges thBefendants billed for serviceseyn did not prowie. No rule

or regulation is required to show that falskings are fraudulent.The cases Defendant
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cite are not to the contrary.SeeUnited States ex rel. Hanna v. City of Cl834
F.3d 775, 779-80 (7th Cir. 2016) (wheromplaint alleges false certificatioof
compliance with a regulatignfailure to identify the rgulation at issue requireg
dismissal);United States ex rel. Pdoff v. St. Mark’s HospNo. 2:16-cv-00304-JNP-
EJF, 2017 WL 237615, &8 (D. Utah Jan. 19, 2017)dosidering complaint that allegec
billing of unnecessary servigasot “phantom servicesdhwere never provided”)jnited
States ex rel. Modglin v. DJO Global Int14 F. Supp. 3d 993024 (C.D. Cal. 2015)
(dismissing allegations d&howinglyfailing to meet a disclosa obligation where relator
neither made specific allegations of ster nor identified “any Medicare statute
regulation, NCD, LCD, or claim form” thatotified defendants oduch an obligation);
United States v. Prabhd42 F. Supp. 2d 08, 1032 (D. Nev. 2006) (applying summar
judgment standard to allegedlibg for unnecessary services).

AZCCC and Dr. Singh contend that the cdenpt fails to allege facts sufficient tg
show that they actedith the requisite scienter. Doc. 54 at 8. Defendants emphasizs
Relator’s generalized allegation that‘fceunseled” Defendants is insufficientd. The
complaint also fails, Defendants argue, togdléhat any Defendant knowingly instructe
him to bill CPT code 77290 improperlyld. Relator counters that he need not alle
knowledge with particularity.Doc. 60 at 13-15. The Court agrees. Rule 9(b) pern
general allegations with respect to “[m]aliogtent, knowledge, and other conditions of
person’s mind.” Fed. R. Ci\R. 9(b). The complaint's geras allegations of scienter
meet this standardSeeDoc. 47 | 24-45, 195-237.

2. SchemelTwo.

AZCCC and Dr. Singh offetwo reasons to dismissoGnt One with respect to
Scheme Two. Defendants argue that thengaint fails to allge the absence of
circumstances justifying the usé CPT code 77470. Doc. %t 8-9. Relator counters

that the complaint pleads reliable indicia tgate rise to an inferece of fraud. Doc. 60

at 15. The Court agrees wiitelator. The compiat need only “allege particular detail$

of a scheme to submit false claims paireith reliable indicia that lead to a stron
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inference that claims were actually submittedJhited Healthcare Ins. Cp848 F.3d
at 1180. The complaint satisfies this requirement.

Defendants also contend that themptaint improperly groups all Defendants
together without explainingow each was involved the fraud. Doc. 54 at $ge Swartz
v. KPMG LLR 476 F.3d 756, 765 {9 Cir. 2007) (fn the context of a fraud suit
involving multiple defendats, a plaintiff must, at a minimum, identify the role of eagh
defendant in the alleged fraudulent schemériternal quotatiormarks omitted)). The
Court does not agree. The complaint dészithe specialized circumstances in which
CPT code 77470 is appropriat®oc. 47 1 119, 122. It @s CMS statistics to allege
that the average radiation amogist in Arizona billed tis CPT code just 47 times
in 2014, while Drs. Lee, Bigg and Reed each billed thedeomore than 100 times that
year. Id. 1 129-30. And it alleges that Dr. Sinigithe “final decision making authority
at AZCCC and is ultimately responsidier the fraudulent billing within the AZCCC
Radiation Oncology Department.id.  14. These allegatiomdescribe a fraudulent
scheme, identify each Defendant’s role, anelspnt sufficient indicia that false claimgs
were actually submitted.

3. Schemd-our.

AZCCC and Dr. Singh offetwo reasons to dismissoGnt One with respect to

| &8

Scheme Four. Defendants aegthat the complainfiails to allege that that they acte
with the requisite scienter. Doc. 54 atllD. As already notedhowever, Rule 9(b)
permits general allegations with respdct malice, intent, knowledge, and other
conditions of a person’s mind. Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b).

They also argue that theomplaint fails to allege #thabsence of circumstances
justifying the use of CPT codér427. Doc. 54 at 10. Defdants further assert that the
complaint fails to identify speft false claims. Doc. 54 di0-11. Relator counters thal\y

the complaint “identifies hundreds of patise for whom Defendants inappropriatel
billed under CPT [c]ode ZA27.” Doc. 60 at 7.
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The Court agrees with BEndants. The complaint lawowledges that billing CPT

code 77427 is appropriate in certain cirst@amces, such as when the brachytherapy

multi-step or includes external beam radiati Doc. 47  164. Relator alleges that

Defendants “have consistently billed for dmatherapy treatment magement using CPT
code 77427 over the years and hawered reimbursement for the saméd. (T 165),

and offers billing records reftting approximately 1,000 stances in which Defendant
billed CPT code 77427%d. 11 166-67). But unlike Schemes One and Two, Relator o
not put this allegation in contexRelator does not allegeaththe treatments at issue fe
outside the circumstances where use of @Bdle 77427 is appropriate, and alleg
nothing to show that theilling volume or frequeng represents an abnormality. As

result, the Court cannot “infer moreatinthe mere possibility of misconductgbal, 556

U.S. at 679. The Court accordingly wilsmiss Count One against AZCCC and Dr.

Singh insofar as it relies on Scheme Four.

B. Count Two.

Count Two alleges that all Defendantsdilalse claims for medically unnecessa
services in violation of 8 3729(a)(1)(A). Do47 19 284-302. Relator asserts thaf
Schemes One, Two, and Three each establish this viola8ee. id. AZCCC and Dr.
Singh generally argue that Relafails to show he has the expertise to assert that cef
services were medically unnecessary. [Bdcat 11. They also argue that he has
personal knowledge that thegndered unnecessary servicdd. As discussed above
however, there is no requirement that Plimi@ve personal knowledgs allegations in
his complaint. Similarly, theris no requirement that he ba expert in the area. Thg
Court must accept his factual allegati@sstrue for purposes of this motion.

1. SchemeOne.

AZCCC and Dr. Singh offethree reasons to dismis®ht Two with respect to

Scheme One. Defendants first argue that dbmplaint is irreconiably inconsistent.

Doc. 54 at 11. As already noted, the rulesioll procedure permit alternative pleading.
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AZCCC and Dr. Singh next gue that the complaint inadequate because it fall
to cite any controlling regulation that wouhdake these services unnecessary. Doc.
at 11-12. Defendants also argue that Relatms failed to show that his opinion o
medical necessity controlsld. The Court does not agree. Relator’'s description
Scheme One adequately explains theuonstances in which ling CPT code 77290
would be medically unnecessary (Doc. %Y 73-83), and the Court must take the
allegations as truelgbal, 556 U.S. at 678.

AZCCC and Dr. Singh alsccontend that the corgnt fails to allege
circumstances showing that theyled CPT code 77290 improperl Doc. 54 at 12. But
the complaint explains thailling CPT code 77290 for eac®BRT treatment for every
patient is unnecessary. Doc. 47 {1 73-83%d it presents appkimately 4,000 billing
records in which Defendatbilled CPT code 77290 fceach SBRT treatment.ld.
19 99-109. This is sufficient to allege the absence of medical necessity.

2. SchemeTwo.

AZCCC and Dr. Singh offer two reasons to dismiss Count Two with respe
Scheme Two. They first argue that Reldtls to identify a single instance of billing
CPT code 77470 for medicallynnecessary services. Doc.&412. But as noted aboveg
Rule 9(b) does not require thRelator detail specific traactions or identify precise
methods used to carry out the fraudnited Healthcare Ins. Cp848 F.3d at 1180. The

complaint need only “allege gacular details of a scheme to submit false claims pai

Id. For reasons already explained, the complaint meets this standard.
AZCCC and Dr. Singh argue that the gHiéons are irreconcilably inconsisten
Doc. 54 at 12-13. Again, however, alternative pleading is allowed.
3. SchemeThree.
AZCCC and Dr. Singh offer several reastmslismiss Count Tw with respect to

Scheme Three. Defendants first contahdt the complaint fis to identify any

controlling authority that wodl make follow-up CT scans oaecessary. Doc. 54 at 13.
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To the extent an email fromr. Tannehill says otherwis®efendants argue, it does ndg
render an opinion on the medical nesiey of any specific procedurdd. The Court is
not aware, however, of any requirement thatomplaint identifycontrolling authority.
The complaint describes witharticularity the circumstansein which a follow-up CT
scan would be medically unnecessary. DRc{f 137-40. The Court must credit the
allegations as truelgbal, 556 U.S. at 678.

AZCCC and Dr. Singh argue that the cdanmt fails to specify any particular
physician who billed for an unoessary CT scan. Doc. 54 at 13. Nor does it show

absence of circumstancestjiigng a second CT scanld. at 13-14. But Rule 9(b) only

requires a description of the scheme with kd#andicia that false claims were actually

submitted. United Healthcare Ins. Cp848 F.3d at 1180. EBhcomplaint meets this
standard. It alleges that a second CT dsararely required for the second phase
radiation treatment for prostate and breast cancers. Doc. 47 I#9838Yet physicians
at a particular office within AZCCC's pracécincluding Defendants, allegedly billed fg
a second CT scan for 90%tbkir prostate cancer patiertsd 75% of their breast cance
patients. Id. 1 148. Relator further assertsathAZCCC’s paperwork automatically
requested a second CT scagamlless of medical necessityd. { 150. Relator has
described a scheme and paired it with reliable indicia that false claims were ag
submitted.

Dr. Singh argues that the complaint fails to allege that he requested an unned
CT scan. Doc. 54 at 14. Bthe complaint alleges that D8ingh was a physician at th
office that had abnormally high billing ratesr feecond CT scans and used a treatm
form that automatically request such scans. Doc. 47 81450. The complaint alsg
alleges that he is responsible for all of AZCCC'’s billind. § 14.

AZCCC and Dr. Singh contend that the cdenpt fails to allege facts sufficient tg
show that any Defendant knawgly billed for an unnecessary GEan. Doc. 54 at 14
As noted, however, Rule 9(b) permits genalidgations with respect to malice, inten

knowledge, and other conditions of agmn’s mind. Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b).
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C. Count Three.

Count Three alleges that all Defendantslenar used false records or statemet
material to false claims in violation of 82(a)(1)(B). Doc. 47{ 303-10. To state g
cause of action under 8 3729(a)(1)(B), Relatwst allege that Defendants “knowingl
made, used, or caused to be made or usedsertecord or statemematerial to a false
or fraudulent claim.” United States ex rel. Kelly v. Serco, 846 F.3d 325, 335 (9th
Cir. 2017) (quotingHooper, 688 F.3d at 1048). Relatasserts that Schemes On
through Four establish this violatioseeDoc. 47 1 308-09.

AZCCC and Dr. Singh contend that Countdfails to complyvith Rule 9(b)’s

heightened pleading standard>oc. 54. They first reasgetheir previous arguments

regarding Counts One and Twdd. at 14. Because the colamt inadequately asserts

false claims, they argue, Codufitree fails to allege falseatements in those claimgd.

For the reasons described above, the Courtteefhis argument withespect to Schemes

One, Two, and Three. Bthe Court will dismiss Count The insofar as it relies on the

allegations in Scheme FouBee Kelly846 F.3d at 335 (absence of false claim defealf
false records claim as a matter of law).

AZCCC and Dr. Singh also contend th@bunt Three fails to identify each
Defendant’s role in the alleged fraud. DB&d. at 15. Defendants characterize t
complaint as simply making an allegatiomatitthey “knowingly made or used fals
records.” Id. This is not accurate. As explathabove, the complaint describes Schenm
One, Two, and Three with spicity. Count Three incorpates those descriptions by
alleging that Defendants vettled 8§ 3729(a)(1)(Bjhrough their participation in those
schemes. Doc. 47 11 308-09. This is sigfit to put Defendantsn notice of the claims
against them.

D. Count Four.

Count Four alleges that AZCCC knawgily avoided an obligation to refund
overpayments in violation of § 3729(a)(1)(Gpoc. 47 1 311-16. This is the FCA’

“reverse false claims” provisionKelly, 846 F.3d at 335. To establish a cause of act
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under 8§ 3729(a)(1)(G), Relator must shamat AZCCC “knowingly concealled] or
knowingly and improperly avoid[ed] or decsefd] an obligation to pay or transmit
money” to the United States31 U.S.C. 8§ 3729(a)(1)(G)Relator asserts that Scheme
Five establishes this violatiorBeeDoc. 47 1 311-16.

AZCCC contends that the complaint failsseveral respects, including in its lagk
of any allegation that AZCCCommitted fraud with respet¢b any credits. Doc. 54
at 15-16. The Court agreeSThe ‘reverse false claims’ prasion does not eliminate of
supplant the FCA'’s false claim requirementrather expands the meaning of a false
claim to include statements to avoid payeglebt or returning pperty to the United
States.” Cafassg 637 F.3d at 1056 (interpreting prigersion of the reverse false claim
provision); see alsoKelly, 846 F.3d at 336 (quotinGafassofor this proposition with
respect to the current reverfalse claim provision). “[T]o commit conduct actionable
under the FCA, one must, in some way, dblsassert entittement to obtain or retaln
government money or propertyCafassg 637 F.3d at 1056. EBhcomplaint alleges with
particularity the ways in which the allety@everpayments occurred (Doc. 47 1 173-7b),

O

but it simply asserts that AZCCC “has aded the obligation to return many of these
credits to Medicare and Medica@hd continues the accumulationd.(  182). It
identifies no false statementdaims made by Defendants.

The complaint’'s four examples do not cuhes deficiency. They allege that
AZCCC failed to take action to remedy eambherpayment (Doc. 47 Y 184-88), but|a
failure to act is not tantamount to a falseestagnt or claim. “It is not enough to allege
regulatory violations; rather, thalse claim or statement mus¢ the sine qua non of [the
retention] of state funding.”United States ex rel. Camepv. Gilead Scis., Inc.862
F.3d 890, 899 (9th Cir. 2017). “This typeaifegation, which identifies a general sort of
fraudulent conduct but specifies no particutecumstances of any discrete fraudulent
statement, is precisely what IRB®(b) aims to preclude.Cafassg 637 F.3d at 1057. The

Court accordingly will dismiss Count Four.
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E.  CountSix!
Count Six alleges that AZCCC andr.DBiggs retaliated against Relator i
violation of 31 U.S.C§ 3730(h). Doc. 47 11 317-23he Ninth Circuit has explained:

The False Claims Act protects “whistbéowers” from retaliation by their
employers. Thus, the False Claimst Atakes it illegal foan employer to
“discharge[], demote[], spend][], threaten[], harass[], or in any other
manner discriminate[] against [an employee] in the terms and conditions of
employment ... because of lawful acts done by the employee ... in
furtherance of an action under thiscsen, including investigation for,
initiation of, testimony for, or assistanae an action filed or to be filed
under this section ....” 31 U.S.€.3730(h). An employee must prove

three elements in a 8§ 3730(h) tetdon claim: (1) that the employee

engaged in activity protected undee thtatute; (2) that the employer knew

that the employee engaged in progelchctivity; and (3) that the employer

discriminated against the employeechuse [he] engaged in protected

activity.
Moore v. Cal. Inst. offech. Jet Propulsion Lab275 F.3d 838, 84%9th Cir. 2002)
(citation omitted). Because these elementsxdbrequire a showing of fraud, Relatd
need not meet the heightenadading standard of Rulel®(in his retaliation claimSee
Mendiondo v. Centinela Hosp. Med. C621 F.3d 1097, 110®th Cir. 2008).

Relator alleges that (1) AZCCC threatertksciplinary action if Relator failed to
attend an August 2017 billingneeting (Doc. 47 1 243); (2) Dr. Biggs admonish
Relator at the meeting to “do his jobthen Relator raise@ompliance issuesid
19 244-50); (3) Dr. Biggs threatened issue Relator a written reprimand for h
comments at that meetingl (11 251-52); (4) Dr. Biggs imposed an impossible dead|
on Relator for an exhatise compliance reporid. Y 254-56); and (5) Dr. Biggs accuss
Relator of poor job performancel( 258). Relator allegdbat Dr. Biggs took these
retaliatory actions on behalf of AZCCQd. § 321.

AZCCC argues that these allegations are insufficient, emphasizing that Relat

not been terminated, demoted, or formally disciplined. Doc. 34-4. But the FCA

! The Second Amended Complaint do®t contain a fifth countSeeDoc. 47.
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also prohibits threats and harassmefee31l U.S.C. § 3730(h). Defendant disputs
Relator’'s characterization dfiese events as threats dradassment (Doc. 54 at 16), bt
that is an issue that must téecided when the facts are fullyvédoped. At this stage, the

allegations of threats, admonishmentsg accusations plausibly suggest that AZCC

discriminated against him faengaging in a protected taaty. The Court will deny
AZCCC'’s motion with respect to Count Six.
I\VV.  Dr. Lee’s Motion to Dismiss.

Dr. Lee contends generally that the compyléails to complywith the heightened
pleading standard in Rule 9(b). Doc. 35efendant first argues dhthe complaint fails
to identify any specific claim he submittedithv knowledge of its falsity. Doc. 55
at6-7,11. As noted above, however, kienlge need not be pledith particularity
under Rule 9(b), and the Court finds the allegations of knowledge sufficient.

Dr. Lee next argues thahe complaint fails to kenhtify any controlling rule,
regulation, or standard that he violated. cD8b at 10. For reasons explained above,
Court does not agree. Relator has allegéd particularity the circumstances in whic
the billing in Schemes One, Bwand Three woulthe improper. Dr. Lee’s attempt tg
apply the summary judgment standard sloet require a different resultSee United
States ex rel. Local 342 Plumberdagteamfitters v. Dan Caputo ¢821 F.3d 926, 933
(9th Cir. 2003) (requiring proofhat statement was contratyg “an existing state of
things” at summary judgmentiprabhuy 442 F. Supp. 2d at 1046equiring evidence of
falsehood at summary judgmentynited States ex rel. Roby v. Boeing ,d®0 F.
Supp. 2d 619, 625 (S.D. OhZ®00) (requiring “proof ofan objective falsehood” af
summary judgment).

Dr. Lee also argues that the complaint violates Rule 8 insofao@sts One, Two,

and Three confusingly incorpoeaprior descriptions of the alleged schemes. Doc.

at11. Defendant cites no authority ftive proposition that incorporation of prioy

paragraphs is impermissiblé&ee id. And Defendant acknowledg that Rule 8 requires

“a short and plain statement of the claim simgathat the pleader is entitled to relief.
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Id. The Court cannot discern how repeatingalegations of each scheme in each cot
would make the complaint more plain ooncise. The Court finds the complair
sufficient with respect to Schees One, Two, and Three.

A. Count One.

Dr. Lee contends that Count One faitls comply with theheightened pleading
standard in Rul®(b). Doc. 55.

1. SchemeOne.

Dr. Lee offers two reasons to dismiss CoOne with respect to Scheme One. O
Lee first argues that Relator lacks persokmbwledge to assert that Dr. Lee did nq
provide these services. Doc. 55 atA& stated above, the Court does not agree.

Dr. Lee next contends that the complainisfeo allege facts dficient to infer that
false claims were actually submitted. DB66.at 7. Specifically, Defendant argues th
the mere allegation of the freency with which Defendartiilled CPT code 77290 is
insufficient to state a plausible claim of frauldl. at 7-8. But the aoplaint asserts more
than mere billing frequency. It explaitisat biling CPT cod&7290 for each SBRT
treatment for every patient would be both ioer and illogical. Doc. 47 11 73-83. An
it offers approximately 4,00@ecords in which Defendantdled in that precise wayld.
19 99-109. The Court therefargects this argument.

2. SchemeTwo.

Defendant contends that the complaint fealsdentify specificclaims in which he
billed CPT code 77470 improperly. Doc. 868. For reasons already explained, t
Court does not agreé&ee suprdeart 111(A)(2), (B)(2).

Dr. Lee next argues that the complaint féadsallege the absence of circumstanc
that would justify billing CPT cde 77470. Doc. 55 at 8. The Court does not agéee.
supra Part llI(A)(2). The cases Defendant sitdo not require a different resulSee
Ebeid ex rel. United States v. Lungwiéd6 F.3d 993, 1000 (9th Cir. 2010) (affirmin
dismissal of complaint thabatained nothing more than batdnclusions that fraudulent

conduct occurred)United States ex rel. Frazier. IASIS Healthcare Corp812 F.
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V. Dr. Reed’s Motion to Dismiss.

Supp. 2d 1008, 101¥8 (D. Ariz. 2011) (rejecting use efatistics where relator failed tq
provide precise and objective conteadtinformation or comparative data).
3. Scheméd-our.

Defendant argues that the complaint fadsallege thahe knowingly submitted
any specific false claim. Doc. 55 at 16or reasons already eghed, the Court will
dismiss Count One insofar as it relies the allegations in Scheme FouBee supra
Partlll(A)(3).

B. Count Two.

Dr. Lee contends that Count Two faits comply with theheightened pleading
standard in Rul®(b). Doc. 55.

1. Schemes One and Two.

Dr. Lee does not offer separate argutagregarding ScherseOne and Two with
respect to Count Two. See Doc. 55. The Court’'s angais regarding Defendant’s
arguments remains the sanfgee suprdart IV(A)(1)-(2).

2. SchemeéThree.

Dr. Lee contends that Relator lacks pgesonal knowledge or expertise to allege

that medical services are unnecessary. B%cat 9. For reasons already discuss
Relator need not have personal knowledge aficaéexpertise to make factual assertio
in a complaint. The cases Dr. Lee sitepply a summary judgment standar8ee
Prabhu 442 F. Supp. 2d at 1026-33nited States ex rel. Phillgv. Permian Residentia
Care Ctr, 386 F. Supp. 2d 87884-85 (W.D. Tex. 2005).

C. Count Three.

Dr. Lee makes no arguments specific to Count ThEseDoc. 55.
A Count One.

Dr. Reed contends that Count One fadscomply with theheightened pleading
standard in Rul®(b). Doc. 56.
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1. SchemeOne.

Dr. Reed offers several rems to dismiss Count One with respect to Scheme Q
Defendant first contends that the allegatiamsCounts One andwo with respect to
Scheme One are irreconcilably inconsistent,alternative pleadg is permitted.

Dr. Reed argues that Relator lacks peatdmowledge to allege that Dr. Ree
failed to provide certain services. Doc. &69. Defendant argues that Relator’s sc
basis for the facts in the compltais an audit report thatdlinot address whether servicq
were actually provided.Id. As discussed above, the Court finds Relator’'s fact
allegations sufficient to state a claifBee suprdart 111(A)(1) 2

Dr. Reed argues that thergplaint fails to identify ay objective standard thal

would make billing CPT code 772%Mpermissible. Doc. 5t 10. The Court does not

agree. See supraPart 1l1(A)(1), (B)(1). The additiorlacase Defendant cites does n(
require a different result. Defendant hasstaiwn that Relator’'s detailed descriptions
the alleged schemes amount'¢onclusory allegations.”In re Stac Elecs. Sec. Litj89
F.3d 1399, 1408¢th Cir. 1996).

Dr. Reed contends thatetltomplaint fails to allegan absence of circumstance
justifying the use of CPT code 77290. Db6.at 10-11. The Court does not agréee
supraPart I1I(B)(1).

Dr. Reed argues that the cdaipt fails to allege factsufficient to show that he
acted with the requisite scienter. Doc. 5@t Defendant emphasizes that the exter
audit did not publish its findirggregarding the proper use ©PT code 77290 until aftef
his allegedly false claim in January 2018. The Court does na@igree. The complaint
alleges that Defendant had ae@xisting duty to know Medare regulations. Doc. 471
19 28-43. And Relator alleges that he repdisitinformed Defendas of his concerns

)ne.
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about fraudulent billing. Id. 1 195-237. This included the delivery of a 28-page

> Dr. Reed submits two exhibits in pport of this argument. Doc. 5§
at 8-9, 18-25. But the Court cannot coesieéxtrinsic evidenceithout converting his
motion to dismiss into a motofor summary judgment. At this early stage of tl
It|t|%at|0n, when the parties have not engageth@aningful discovery, the Court decline
0 do so.
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compliance program document By. Reed in August 20111d.  204. The complaint
can allege scienter with these general allegati®es suprdart [[1(A)(1).
2. SchemelTwo.
Dr. Reed offers three reass to dismiss Count One witespect to Scheme Two
Defendant first argues that the complaint fadsallege a single stance in which he
improperly billed CPT code 77470. Doc. 56 at 6. The Court does not aégeeesupra

Part 111(A)(2), (B)(2). The NinthCircuit case Dr. Reed citeles not require a different

result. See Cafass®37 F.3d at 1057 (affning dismissal where laor failed to identify
any false claimand an inference of fraud was unwarraghtgiven an “obvious alternative
explanation” for the conduct).

Dr. Reed also contendthat the complaint fails tcallege the absence o
circumstances that would justibilling CPT code 77470. Do&6 at 7. The Court doeg
not agree.See suprdeart 111(A)(2).

Dr. Reed argues that Relator lacks the aasknowledge to allege that Dr. Ree
did not provide medical services. Doc. 5& atAs noted above, personal knowledge
not required for allegeons in a complaint.

3. Schemed-our.
To challenge the sufficiegcof the allegations in Schee Four, Dr. Reed offers

the same arguments he did wittspect to Scheme Two. ©d6 at 6-8. For reason

already explained, the Cowrill dismiss Count One insofas it relies on the allegations

in Scheme FourSee supr#art 111(A)(3).

B. Count Two.

Dr. Reed contends that Count Two faisscomply with theheightened pleading
standard in Rule 9(b). Doc. 56. Dre&d makes three general arguments. Defend
first argues that Relator lacks the personal Kedge or expertise to assert that certs
services are medically unnecagsa Doc. 56 at 11-12. EhCourt does not agree, a4

already noted. And Defendant has not argiled current regulations are ambiguous

to the circumstances in which these services are reasonable and neceSsary.
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Polukoff 2017 WL 237615, at *30 (dismissing complainivhere regulations did not

define circumstances in which a particutaedical procedure would be reasonable and

necessary).

Dr. Reed next argues that RelatodBegations in Counts One and Two a
irreconcilably inconsistent. @056 at 12. The Court haddressed this gument above.
See suprdart 111(A)(1).

Dr. Reed also argues tithe complaint fails to allegicts sufficient to show that
he acted with the requisite scienter. Daf.at 4; Doc. 63 at 7. The Court does n
agree.See suprdarts 111(A)(1), V(A)(1).

1. SchemeOne.

Dr. Reed first contends that Relator lacks a legitimate basis on which to asse
Dr. Reed billed CPT code 772% medically unnecessary services. Doc. 56 at 12-
Specifically, Defendant characterizes Scheme One as relying soléig dindings of an
external audit, which did nndind that Dr. Red provided unnessary servicesld. But
this mischaracterizes the colaimt. Relator described theeudit to lend support to his
own observations as billing manager.

Dr. Reed next argues that the cdanut fails to allege the absence (¢

e

ot

rt th

circumstances that would justify billing CP®ode 77290. Doc. 56 at 13. The Court does

not agree.See suprdeart 111(B)(1).
2. SchemeTwo.
Dr. Reed first contends that the complaint fails “to allege a single instance W
Dr. Reed utilized CPT codé7470 in any improper way, much less a particulariz
instance where Dr. Reedlled under CPT code 7747tbr medically unnecessary
services.” Doc. 56 at 12The Court does not agre8ee suprdart 111(A)(2), (B)(2).

Dr. Reed next argues that the cdanmt fails to allege the absence d

her
ed

f

circumstances that would justify billing CPode 77470. Doc. 56 at 13. The Court does

not agree.See suprdPart 111(A)(2), (B)(2).
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3. SchemeéThree.
Dr. Reed first contends that the ngolaint fails to identify any controlling

authority that would make follow-up CT scansianessary. Doc. 56 &B. To the extent

an email from Dr. Tannehilbays otherwise, Defendaatgues, it does not render an

opinion on the medical necessity any specific procedureld. The Court does not|
agree.See suprdart 111(B)(3).

Dr. Reed next argues ththe complaint fails to demotrate the absence of specid
circumstances justifying a second CT scan.c.[3® at 14. The Court does not agre
See suprdPart 111(B)(3).

C. Count Three.

Dr. Reed first reasserts his previougusnents with respect to Counts One a

Two. Doc. 56 at14-15. Because the ctamp inadequately alleges false claim

Defendant argues, Count Three failsofar as it alleges falstatements in those claimg.

Id. For the reasons described above, therCrejects this argument with respect f
Schemes One, Two, and Thre&he Court will dismiss CounThree insofar as it relies
on the allegations in Scheme Fo&ee suprdPart 111(A)(3), (C).

Dr. Reed next contends that Count Entacks specificity. Doc. 56 at 15. The
Court does not agree with respect to Schemes One, Two, ame. Tidee supra
Part 111(C).

Dr. Reed also argues tithe complaint fails to allegicts sufficient to show that

he acted with the requisite soter. Doc. 56 at 15. Asralady explained, the complaint’s

allegations with respect to Schemes Oneg,Tand Three adequately described scenat
in which Dr. Reed knowingly caused bills b@ submitted for unnecessary services
services not actually rendered. And the clzomp's general allegations of scienter al
sufficient under Rule 9(b)See suprdart I11(A), (B).
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VI.  Dr. Biggs's Motion to Dismiss.

A Count One.

Dr. Biggs contends that @ot One fails to cmply with the heightened pleading
standard in Rul®(b). Doc. 58.

1. SchemeOne.

Dr. Biggs first argues thahe complaint fails to ideify any specific claim in
which he billed CPTcode 77290 improperlyDoc. 58 at 4. The Court does not agree.
See supr#art 1I(A)(1).

Dr. Biggs contends that the complainigdo articulate circumstances in which |t
would be inappropriate to bill QPcode 77290.Doc. 58 at 4. Th€ourt does not agree
See supr#art 111(B)(1).

Dr. Biggs argues that Relator lacksetlpersonal knowledgto make these
allegations. Doc. 58 at 5. The Court does not agbee. supr&art 111(A)(1). The Ninth
Circuit case Defendant cites does not require otherwse Applestein v. Medivation,
Inc., 561 F. App’x 598, 600 (9tlir. 2014) (affirming disnssal where complaint quoted

witnesses who had no basis on which feom their “uncredited and speculativ

11%

conclusions”).

Dr. Biggs contends that Counts OnedaTwo are irreconcilaly inconsistent.
Doc. 58 at 5-6. The Court does not agr8ee suprdart IlI(A)(1). The cases Defendant
cites do not require a different result. Defentdhas not establishdéaat the complaint is
so “fraught with inconsistencies{s to require dismissabDhir v. Carlyle Grp. Emp. Co.
No. 16-cv-06378 (RJS), 201WWL 4402566, at *7-8 (S.DI.Y. Sept. 29, 2017)
(dismissing fraud claim based on “circumstantiaternally contradictory evidence of a
harebrained, short-sighted cpiracy that defies logic”). And Counts One and Two dre
consistent insofar as both allege false claim§&ee Hockey v. Medhekar30 F.
Supp. 2d 1209, PD-21 (N.D. Cal. 1998dismissing allegation that offered inconsistent

assertions about whether thatetent was actually false).
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Dr. Biggs argues that the oplaint fails to allege the absence of circumstang

justifying the use of CPT codé7290. Doc. 58 at 6.The Court does not agreesee
supraPart [1I(B)(1).

Dr. Biggs contends that the complksnreliance on billing volume renders i
inadequate. Doc. 58 at @he Court does not agre8ee suprd@art IV(A)(1).

Dr. Biggs argues that tlommplaint impermissibly groups the Defendants togeth
Doc. 58 at 6-7. Rule 9(ljoes not require that Relatortaké specific transactions of
identify precise methods uséd carry out the fraud.United Healthcare Ins. Cp848
F.3d at 1180. The corgint need only “allege particulatetails of a scheme to subm
false claims paired with reliable indicia tHatd to a strong inference that claims we

actually submitted.”ld. The complaint meets this standa It describes the specialize

es

|

er.

circumstances in which CPT codé290 is appropriate. Doc. 47 Y 73-77. It alleges that

billing this CPT code for SBT is only appropdte on the first day of a multi-day

treatment. Id. {1 78-83. Yet it cites approximatet,000 records in which Defendants

including Dr. Biggs, billed CIP code 77290 for each day ofegy patient’s treatmentd.

19 99-109. These allegations describe a fraudulent scheme, identify each Defel
role in that scheme, and present reliable irdibat false claims were actually submitte
The cases Defendant cites do meguire a different result. See Untied States v
Corinthian Colls, 655 F.3d 984, 998 {® Cir. 2011) (fn the context of a fraud suif
involving multiple defendats, a plaintiff must, at a mimum identify the role of each
defendant in the alleged ftrdulent scheme.” (internal quotation marks omitted
Destfino v. Reiswig30 F.3d 952, 958 (9th Cir. 2011) €mely stating that “everyone dic
everything” does not meetdtRule 9(b) standardodglin, 114 F. Supp. 3d at 1017-14
(complaint against two compi@s was insufficient becausealleged that “defendants’
agents and employees” comradtfraud without distinguishg between the defendant

or identifying their employees).
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2. SchemeTwo.

Dr. Biggs first contends that the complafails to identifyany controlling law,
regulation, or standard that would make bdliCPT code 77470 impropeDoc. 58 at 7.
The Court does not agre8ee suprdart I11(A)(2), (B)(2). Thecomplaint describes with
particularity the circumstancés which billing CPT code 470 would be iappropriate.

Dr. Biggs next argues that the comptdls to identify ay specific false claim
for which he is responsible. Doc. 38 7. The Court does not agree&ee supra
Part 111(B)(2).

Dr. Biggs also argues that the comiplaalleges wrongdoing based simply on
billing volume. Doc. 58 at 8 The Court does not agre&ee suprdart IlI(A)(2). The
complaint compares Dr. Biggs’s billing voluni@ that of the average Arizona radiation
oncologist to reveal aapparent disparity.

3. Scheméd~our.

Dr. Biggs seeks to disngsCount One with pect to Scheme Four. Doc. 58
at 8-9. For reasons alayaexplained, the Court will dimiss Count One insofar as it
relies on the allegations in Scheme FoBee suprdart 111(A)(3).

B. Count Two.

Dr. Biggs contends that Count Two faits comply with theheightened pleading
standard in Rul®(b). Doc. 58.

1. Schemes One and Two.

Dr. Biggs offers the same reasons teniss Count Two with respect to Schem

(D
(9]

One and Two as he did regarding Count ORec. 58 at 9-10. For the same reasons, the
Court rejects these arguments.
2. SchemeThree.
Dr. Biggs first argues that the complafails to articulate any controlling law
regulation, or standard that would make eosel CT scan unnecesga Doc. 58 at 10.

The Court does not agre8ee suprdart 111(B)(3).
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Dr. Biggs contends thatehcomplaint fails to allegthe absence of circumstance
justifying a second CT scanDoc. 58 at 10-11. EhCourt does not agreeSee supra
Part 111(B)(3).

Dr. Biggs argues that trmomplaint alleges only thdie ordered unnecessary C
scans, not that he actually billed for them.cDa8 at 11. But theomplaint alleges that
Dr. Biggs ordered unnecessasgrvices with knowledge &b his practice would bill
federal insurance programs for those servic&oc. 47 1 136-61, 195-231. That
sufficient to state a claim.

Dr. Biggs contends that éhcomplaint fails to identifya single instance of him
billing for an unnecessary CT scan. DB8.at 11-12. The Court does not agré&ee
supraPart 11(B)(3).

C. Count Three.

Dr. Biggs first reasserts his previoug@aments with respedcd Counts One and
Two. Id. at12. Because the colamt inadequately alleges false claims, Defenda

argues, Count Three fails insofar as it gdle false statements in those claind. For

S

S

ANt

the reasons described above, the Courtct®jthis argument with respect to Schemies

One, Two, and Three. Btite Court will dismiss Count The insofar as it relies on thg
allegations in Scheme Fou&ee suprdart I1I(C).

Dr. Reed next contends that Coumhree lacks specifiy insofar as it
impermissibly groups all Defendants togethédoc. 58 at 12-13. The Court does n
agree with respect to Schesn@ne, Two, and Threesee suprdart I11(A)(3), (C).

D. Count Six.

Count Six alleges that AZCCC andr.DBiggs retaliated against Relator i
violation of 31 U.S.C. 8§ 30(h). Doc. 47 1 317-23. Dr. Biggs joins in AZCCC
motion to dismiss Count SixSeeDoc. 58 at 13. For reasodsscribed above, the Cour

will deny Defendant’s motion th respect to Count SiXxSee suprdlart I11(E).
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VII. Conclusion.
The Court will dismiss Counts One, Twand Three insofar akey rely on the

allegations in Scheme Four. The Court aislb dismiss Count Four. Counts One, Twd

and Three survive insofar asethrely on allegations in emes One, Two, and Three.

Count Six also survives.

IT IS ORDERED:

1. AZCCC and Dr. Singh’s motion to dismiss (Doc. 54yianted in part
anddenied in part as explained above.

2. Dr. Lee’s motion to dismiss (Doc. 55) gsanted in part and denied in
part as explained above.

3. Dr. Reed’s motion to dismiss (Doc. 56)gianted in part and denied in
part as explained above.

4. Dr. Biggs’s motion to dismiss (Doc. 58)gsanted in part anddenied in
part as explained above.

Dated this 8th dagf March, 2018.

Nalb Gttt

Dawvid G. Campbell
United States District Judge
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